ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its 
discretion in denying the parties' joint motion to continue the trial in this action 
and refusing to permit the petitioner to conduct additional discovery prior to 
ruling on dispositive motions where the parties agreed that there had been 
insufficient time for the parties to conduct necessary discovery, where the 
petitioner had been prevented from deposing the respondent police officer 
involved in the fatal pursuit and where an eyewitness to the fatal pursuit was 
intentionally concealed from the petitioner by the respondents until after 
discovery had concluded. 

II. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its 
discretion by finding, as a matter of law, that the special relationship exception 
to the public duty doctrine did not apply to the underlying facts and that the 
respondents were not liable for the damages proximately caused by the respondent 
police officer's negligent failure to take reasonable steps to ensure that the 
petitioner's decedent was free from reasonably foreseeable harm after the 
respondent police officer detained the petitioner's decedent and other juveniles 
after curfew in an illegally-operated motor vehicle without any adult supervision, 
but failed to release the juveniles into the custody of their parents or guardians, 
as required by statute and the respondent municipality's own internal guidelines, 
or otherwise take steps to reasonably ensure the safety of the juveniles. 

III. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its 
discretion by finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact in relation 
to the petitioner's claim that the respondents were liable for their violations of 
the West Virginia Emergency Vehicle Statute, and by finding, as a matter of law, 
that the respondent police officer's actions in pursuing the motor vehicle in which 
the petitioner's decedent was a passenger at the time of his death were not grossly 
negligent and in wanton disregard of the safety of the petitioner's decedent, where 
the respondent police officer pursued a vehicle he had reason to believe was being 
illegally operated in hazardous weather conditions by an underage juvenile and 
where the respondent police officer violated the written policies of the respondent 
municipality regarding such a pursuit. 

IV. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its 
discretion by finding, as a matter of law, that the actions of a fifteen-year-old 
juvenile, illegally operating a motor vehicle and attempting to evade police pursuit 
at the time of the crash that claimed the life of the petitioner's decedent, were an 
intervening efficient cause sufficient to cut off the respondents' liability for 
damages related to the petitioner's decedent's wrongful death. 

V. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its 
discretion by failing to sanction the respondents for intentional discovery 
misconduct, which included lying in responses to discovery requests propounded 
by the petitioner and concealing the existence and identity of an eyewitness to 
the police pursuit and motor vehicle crash that claimed the life of the petitioner's 
decedent until after the completion of discovery in the underlying action. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The petitioner, Stephen G. Endicott, is the duly-qualified Administrator of the 

Estate ofP.E., who died on January 31,2015 because of injuries sustained in a motor 

vehicle crash in Fayette County, West Virginia. (pp. 5-6.)1 The respondents in this 

action are the City of Oak Hill, the City of Oak Hill's police department and Patrolman 

Joshua Jones, an Oak Hill police officer acting within the scope of his employment at 

the time ofP.E.'s death. (Id.) 

P.E. was born on April 10, 2000 and was fourteen years old at the time of his 

death. (p. 296.) P.E. was attending Oak Hill High School as a freshman. (p. 295.) At 

the time of his death, P.E. was living in Scarbro, West Virginia, in Fayette County, with 

his father, Stephen G. Endicott, his mother, Sharon, and his sister, B.E. (p. 292-93.) 

Although Stephen G. Endicott was P.E.'s biological grandfather, he had adopted P.E. in 

2006 and was P.E.'s legal father at the time of his death. (Id.) 

On Friday, January 30, 2015, P.E. traveled to the Crossroads Mall in Raleigh 

County, with a friend, where the two spent the day "hanging out" and visiting stores in 

the mall. (p. 310.) That evening, Stephen G. Endicott traveled to the Mall to pick up 

P.E. and B.E., but, after talking with another parent, it was determined that P.E. and 

one of his friends would travel with another friend, N.P., who was sixteen years old and 

had a regular driver's license, to the home of the grandmother of one of the boy's 

schoolmates, RL., in Oak Hill. (pp. 298; 324-25.) RL. was a mutual friend of the boys, 

and RL.'s grandmother's home was a common hangout among their group of friends. 

(p. 325-26.) 

1 All citations are to the relevant page in the Appendix Record filed herein. 
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At approximately 8:00 p.m., N.P. picked P.E. and his friend, E.G., up from the 

Mall, and the three juveniles along with fourth friend, D.P., traveled to RL.'s 

grandmother's home. (p. 325.) During the trip, several of the boys in the vehicle, 

including P.E., smoked marijuana. (p. 326.) When the boys arrived at RL.'s 

grandmother's home, two other juveniles, J.B. and T.K., were also there. Shortly after 

P.E. arrived at RL.'s grandmother's house, J.B. left the residence with N.P. and went to 

J.B.'s grandmother's residence at Pine Knoll Apartments, which was a few miles away, 

and, without his grandmother's permission or knowledge, took his grandmother's 2011 

Ford Escort and drove it back to RL.'s grandmother's home. (pp. 326; 343-46.) J.B. 

was fIfteen years old on January 31,2015, and had only had a learner's permit for about 

four to fIve months at the time. (pp. 341; 349.) 

Mter J.B. returned to R.L.'s grandmother's home with the 2011 Ford Escort, 

several of the juveniles at the residence again smoked marijuana. (p. 343.) Around 

midnight, J.B., E.G., P.E., T.K. and N.P. traveled, with J.B. driving, to an area the 

juveniles referred to as "the junkyard", which was off Lochgelly Road and near Pine Knoll 

Apartments. (pp. 343-45.) While the juveniles were at "the junkyard", they did donuts, 

slid around on the snow and ice, and otherwise "goofed off' in J.B.'s grandmother's 

vehicle. (Id.) 

When the juveniles left "the junkyard", they traveled back to RL. 's grandmother's 

home along Lochgelly Road with J.B. driving. (pp. 344-45.) During their trip back, 

Patrolman Jones pulled the vehicle over due to a burned-out headlight. (pp. 344-45; 

360.) According to Patrolman Jones' statement, he stopped the 2011 Ford Escort driven 

by J.B. at 2:03 a.m. on January 31, 2015. (p. 360.) During the traffic stop, Patrolman 

Jones took J.B.'s license, registration and proof of insurance. (pp. 345; 360.) The vehicle 

was registered to J.B.'s grandmother. (p. 345.) During this initial c~ntact, Patrolman 
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Jones also asked each of the juveniles in the vehicle their names and dates of birth. (p. 

312.) Patrolman Jones then took the information and went back to his cruiser while the 

juveniles waited in the Ford Escort. (Id.) While the juveniles waited in their vehicle, other 

police officers pulled up to where Patrolman Jones had stopped the juveniles and left 

after a short time. (Id.) 

Mter Patrolman Jones returned to J.B.'s vehicle, he presented him with citations 

for defective equipment and for being out past curfew. (p. 345.) Patrolman Jones then 

instructed J.B. that he drive his vehicle to RL.'s grandmother's home, go into the home 

and that none of the juveniles leave the home for the rest of the evening. (Id.) Patrolman 

Jones followed the juveniles to the residence and left after they entered RL.'s 

grandmother's residence. (Id.) Before releasing the juveniles, Patrolman Jones did not 

contact any of the juveniles' parents or guardians, and did not check to ensure a 

responsible adult was present in the home where he released the juveniles. (Id.; p. 360.) 

Mter the juveniles were back inside RL.'s grandmother's residence, J.B. became 

concerned about being caught with his grandmother's vehicle without her permission 

and decided to drive the vehicle back to his grandmother's apartment that night. (p. 

345.) P.E. expressed concern about J.B. driving the vehicle by himself and decided to 

accompany J.B. when he returned the vehicle. (Id.) N.P. went with J.B. in a separate 

vehicle so that he could drive the three juveniles back to RL. 's grandmother's house 

after the car had been returned. (p. 328.) 

As the two vehicles left RL.'s grandmother's house, N.P. drove his vehicle in front 

of J.B.'s vehicle in an attempt to conceal the fact that one of the Ford Escort's headlights 

was burned out. (p. 328.) According to N.P., it was a couple miles between RL.'s 

grandmother's house and J.B.'s grandmother's apartment. (Id.) According to J.B., when 

the two vehicles turned on to Main Street to return to Pine Knoll Apartments, he saw 
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two police cars setting in the parking lot near the Sav-a-Lot grocery store. (pp. 345-46.) 

At the time, the two vehicles were traveling between thirty-five and forty-five miles per 

hour. (p. 346.) The speed limit on Main Street was forty-five miles per hour. (p. 328.) 

According to J.B., the two police cars were approximately thirty yards from Main Street 

when his vehicle passed them. (p. 346.) As J.B. drove past the two police cars, Patrolman 

Jones activated the emergency lights on his police cruiser and began to pursue J .B. 's 

vehicle. (pp. 346; 360.) 

When Patrolman Jones activated his emergency lights, J.B. got scared, passed 

N.P.'s vehicle and attempted to flee from Patrolman Jones. (pp. 346-49.) According to 

J.B., as he fled, Patrolman Jones' emergency lights were visible in his rearview and side 

mirrors. (Id.) As he fled, J.B. lost control of the vehicle while entering a left-hand curve 

and his vehicle left the roadway on the right side, striking the guardrail and careening 

over an embankment. (Id.) J.B. testified during his deposition that the crash was caused 

by his lack of attention to the roadway and icy conditions. (Id.) At the time of the crash, 

J.B. and P.E. were approximately three-tenths of a mile from J.B.'s grandmother's 

apartment. The crash occurred at approximately 2:52 a.m. on January 31,2015. (Id.) 

At approximately 3:05 a.m., Deputy SheriffAndrew Hudson of the Fayette County 

Sheriffs Department was called to the scene of the motor vehicle crash. (pp. 364-68.) 

When Deputy Hudson arrived at the scene of the crash at 3:22 a.m., members of the 

City of Oak Hill Police Department, including Patrolman Jones, were already at the crash 

scene. (Id.) As part of his investigation into the cause of the crash, Deputy Hudson took 

a verbal statement from Patrolman Jones: 

"During the Emergency Extraction process, I began gathering 
information about the incident. PUm. Jones advised me that he had pulled 
this vehicle over about an hour prior to the accident. PUm. Jones advised 
me that there were other juveniles in the vehicle earlier. The driver of the 
vehicle was [J.B.] (Defendant/DOB: Omitted and the passenger of the 
vehicle was [P.E.] (DOB: Omitted/Victim/Deceased). The other juveniles 
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in the vehicle during Ptlm. Jones's earlier incident with this vehicle were 
[N.P.] (DOB: Omitted, [E.G.] (DOB: Omitted, and [T.K.] (DOB: Omitted. 
Ptlm. Jones observed a subject ([J.B.]/Defendant) on the side of the road 
using the phone. The defendant was on the line with Fayette county E911. 
The defendant advised Fayette County E911 that 'I was running from the 
cops', 'I wrecked my car', and 'I think I killed my friend'. The 911 recording 
was 17 seconds long. Ptlm. Jones advised me that he then stopped to 
check on the defendant, discovered what had happened, and began 
contacting Fayette County E911 to get the appropriate Emergency Services 
Personnel dispatched. Ptlm. Jones advised me that he would provide me 
with his detailed statement as soon as situation allowed." 

(p.366) According to Patrolman Jones' written statement, Patrolman Jones discovered 

J.B. standing on the side of the road near the crash site after he had abandoned his 

pursuit of J.B. and was returning to Oak Hill: 

"At approximately 0250 hours, I was checking the businesses in the 
area of Save-A-Lot when I saw a vehicle with a burned out headlight 
traveling on East Main Street toward the direction of Lochgelly. I then 
activated my emergency lights and pulled out onto East Main Street. Once 
I turned my emergency lights on, the vehicle took off at a high rate of speed 
toward Lochgelly. Once the vehicle passed the Lochgelly overpass, I lost 
sight of the vehicle. Due to icy road conditions, I turned off my emergency 
lights and did not attempt to pursue the vehicle any further. 

At approximately 0255 hours, I continued my patrol and while 
turning around and heading back toward town, I spotted a male subject 
standing next to the guard rail just passed Lochgelly Mulch and Stone. I 
then observed vehicle debris in the roadway and noticed that the guard 
rail was bent. The male subject flagged me down and stated 'I just crashed 
my grandma's car and I think I killed Phill.' Upon speaking to this male 
subject, I recognized him to be [J.B.] from a previous traffic stop on this 
date. I then contacted 911 and informed them that there was a motor 
vehicle accident and that he needed EMS and the motor vehicle accident 
occurred outside of Oak Hill City limits." 

(pp. 360; 364-68.) As a result of the crash, J.B. was charged in a juvenile petition with 

fleeing from an officer in a vehicle resulting in death, negligent homicide and reckless 

driving. (p. 368.) As a disposition on the charges, J.B. spent approximately six months 

in an institutional placement at River Park Hospital before being placed on probation. 

(pp. 348-49). 
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On February 1,2016, Mr. Endicott flled this action alleging that the respondents 

caused the wrongful death of P.E. (p. 1.) The Circuit Court entered a Scheduling Order 

on September 23,2016, which scheduled the case for trial less than ten months later, 

on July 13, 2017. (pp. 77-79.) Following the entry of the Scheduling Order, the parties 

exchanged written discovery and began taking depositions of the individuals who had 

knowledge regarding P.E.'s death. (p. 2.) In written discovery, Mr. Endicott asked the 

respondents about persons who were at the crash scene or gave statements regarding 

the crash: 

"13. Please identify all persons known to you to have personal 
knowledge of the facts pertaining to the occurrence of the incident that 
makes the basis of this complaint, indicate those who were eye witnesses, 
and state the substance of their knowledge and articulate their expected 
testimony. 

ANSWER: There were no eye witnesses. 


Chief Michael W. Whisman Jr. 


Patrolman Joshua Jones 


Officer Jeremy Ortiz 


Deputy Sheriff Andrew Hudson 


Fayette County EMS personnel 


Unknown state road employee 


16. Please identify all persons who arrived at the scene of the 
incident that makes the basis of this complaint within one (1) hour of the 
incident. 

ANSWER: Patrolman Joshua Jones 


Officer Jeremy Ortiz 


Deputy Sheriff Andrew Hudson 


Matthew J. Jarvis 
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Fayette County EMS Personnel 


Unknown state road employee 


19. Do you know of any statement, conversation, comment, 
testimony, or report made by any party to this lawsuit or witness, 
including the Plaintiff, made at the time of the occurrence or following the 
occurrence, concerning the occurrence or facts relevant to any issue in 
this case? If your answer is "yes", state the content of each statement, 
conversation, comment or report, the place where it took place and the 
custodian of such statement. 

ANSWER: See statement of Patrolman Joshua Jones dated 
January 31, 2015, attached hereto as bates no. 4." 

(pp. 390-92.) The City of Oak Hill Police Department was likewise served with discovery 

requests by Mr. Endicott and, on April 28, 2017, provided responses identical to 

Patrolman Jones. (pp.407-08.) 

On May 8,2017, the parties conducted a discovery deposition of J.B. During his 

deposition, Mr. Endicott learned, through J.B.'s testimony, that another woman, who 

had never been identified, was at the scene shortly after the crash. (pp. 347-48.) Based 

partly upon the J .B. 's testimony that there was an unidentified eyewitness at the crash 

scene, the parties jointly moved, on May 22, 2017, for a continuance of the scheduled 

trial to, among other things, identify "a woman at the accident scene." (pp. 129-35.) 

During the pre-trial hearing in this matter on June 22, 2017, respondents' counsel 

explained to the Circuit Court that the parties needed additional time to determine the 

identity of this woman, who was never mentioned in any of the police reports, at the 

accident scene whose identity was then unknown to counsel. (pp. 235-36.) 

On or about May 26, 2017, the respondents ftled a motion for summary 

judgment. (pp. 136-37.) In support of their motion, the respondents offered the Affidavit 

of Patrolman Jones, in which he indicated that, during his pursuit of J .B. 's vehicle, he 

initially slowed his vehicle when he approached N.P. 's vehicle to determine that it was 
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not the vehicle with the burned-out headlight. (pp. 172-75.) He then resumed his 

pursuit of J.B.'s vehicle. (Id.) Based upon the GPS tracking data submitted by the 

respondents, Patrolman Jones' vehicle initially reached speeds of eighty-one miles per 

hour before slowing down, then again reached speeds of seventy miles per hour before 

discovering J.B.'s wrecked vehicle. (pp. 187-200.) The respondents also submitted a 

surveillance video recovered from the Custard Stand restaurant that shows the scene of 

the motor vehicle crash. Contrary to his statement, Patrolman Jones never deactivated 

his emergency lights during the pursuit. 

Mr. Endicott fIled a memorandum in opposition to the summaryjudgment motion 

on June 15,2017. (pp. 218-29.) In his response, Mr. Endicott argued that there were 

factual issues that would have to be resolved during a jury trial on his claims against 

the respondents, and that, pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil 

Procedure, additional time was necessary to conduct discovery related to the motion for 

summary judgment, including the deposition of Patrolman Jones, who had not yet been 

made available for a deposition. (Id.) 

The Circuit Court heard argument from the parties on the joint motion to 

continue and the respondents' motion for summary judgment at a pre-trial hearing on 

June 22,2017. (pp. 231-72.) During argument on the motion to continue, the parties 

advised the Circuit Court that Mr. Endicott had been unable to schedule Patrolman 

Jones' deposition, that the parties were waiting on expert witness reports due to ongoing 

fact discovery, that the parties would need to depose expert witnesses after their reports 

were prepared and that the parties would need to identify "a female who was 

immediately on scene after the accident" who was disclosed during J.B.'s deposition. 

(Id.) Despite the parties' agreement on the need for a continuance, the Circuit Court 

denied the parties' joint motion to continue the trial. (pp. 239-40.) The Circuit Court 
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then heard argument on the respondents' motion for summary judgment, and 

instructed the parties to submit proposed fmdings of fact and conclusions of law on the 

motion by June 30, 2017. (pp. 240-72.) During a telephone call between counsel on 

Tuesday, June 27, 2017, the respondents disclosed, for the first time, that the 

"unknown" woman who was the frrst to arrive at the crash scene on January 31,2015 

was Brenda Jones, the mother of Patrolman Jones. (p. 427.) On June 28, 2017, 

Patrolman Jones supplemented his discovery responses to indicate that his mother was 

at the crash scene within one hour of the crash that killed P.E. and had discoverable 

knowledge regarding the facts of this lawsuit. (pp. 414-16.) 

Mter both parties fIled their proposed findings and conclusions, the Circuit Court 

announced that it would grant the respondents' motion for summary judgment at a 

second pre-trial hearing on July 5,2017.2 (pp. 443-45.) Following the July 5,2017 pre

trial hearing, Mr. Endicott filed a motion for sanctions and supporting memorandum 

against the respondents in relation to their intentional concealment of the identity of an 

eyewitness to the pursuit and automobile crash.3 (pp. 361-439.) Despite the filing of the 

motion for sanctions, the Circuit Court entered its Order Granting Defendants' Motion 

for Summary Judgment on July 10, 2017. (pp. 450-64.)

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