No. 17-0765 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


STEPHEN G. ENDICOTT, AS ADMINISTRATOR OF 

THE ESTATE OF P.E., DECEASED, 


Petitioner and Plaintiffbelow, 

v. 

CITY OF OAK HILL, A WEST VIRGINIA MUNICIPALITY, CITY OF OAK HILL POLICE 

DEPARTMENT, and PATROLMAN JOSHUA JONES INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS 


CAPACITY AS AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF OAK HILL POLICE DEPARTMENT, 

Respondents and Defendants below. 

RESPONDENTS CITY OF OAK HILL, CITY OF OAK HILL POLICE DEPARTMENT 

AND PATROLMAN JOSHUA JONES' RESPONSE TO PETITIONER 


STEPHEN G. ENDICOTT'S PETITION FOR APPEAL 


TO: THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST 
VIRGINIA

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

Respondents do not dispute Petitioner's assertion that summary judgment is appropriate 

only after the opposing party has an adequate time for discovery. What Respondents dispute is 

Petitioner's contention that he did not have adequate opportunity to conduct sufficient discovery and 

that there was anything of relevance to discover that would be germane to Respondents' Motion for 

Summary Judgment. Further, Respondents disagree that Petitioner appropriately requested a 

continuance of the Circuit Court's decision on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment in 

order to conduct additional discovery. Finally, Respondents disagree that there was any dishonesty 
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or intentional false misrepresentation to the Petitioner regarding various discovery disclosures in 

this case. 

First and foremost, the record demonstrates that the Petitioner had more time than he has 

alleged to conduct discovery in this matter. In his brief, Petitioner asserts that the "Circuit Court 

only gave the parties seven months and twelve days to conduct discovery." See Petitioner's Brief, 

pg. 16. However, the record shows that Petitioner had much longer. The first Complaint in this 

matter was filed with the Circuit Court ofFayette County on February 1, 2016. (Appendix at 1, 5

10). After being reassigned to Judge Paul Blake, Jr. due to a conflict with Judge Hatcher, the 

Petitioner filed his Frist Amended Complaint on February 29, 2016. (Appendix at pgs. 20-35). The 

Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss on or about April 20, 2016, but the same was agreed to be 

held in abeyance to allow Petitioner to file another Amended Complaint during a hearing on June 6, 

2016, and by Order on July 15, 2016. (Appendix at pg. 1-4, 36-39, 46-47). Petitioner's Second 

Amended Complaint was filed July 29,2016 and a Scheduling Order entered Septen1ber 23,2016. 

(Appendix at pgs. 1-4,48-54, 77-79). 

From this timeline, the case was on the Court's Docket for approximately one (1) year, five 

(5) months, and five (5) days following the filing of the original Complaint. The parties agreed, 

during a Scheduling Conference held on September 23, 2016, that all formal discovery in this 

matter would conclude on or before May 5, 2017. (Appendix at pgs. 77-79). When viewing the 

various dates of filing, Petitioner has more than the seven months he alleged to conduct discovery as 

details below: 

Petitioner's Complaint to End ofDiscovery: One year, three months, and five days 
First Amended Complaint to end ofDiscovery: One year, two months, and seven days 
Second Amended Complaint to end ofDiscovery: Nine Months and seven days 
Entry of Scheduling Order to end ofDiscovery: Seven months and thirteen days 
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As the Court can see, the Petitioner was afforded more than just "seven months and twelve days" to 

conduct discovery in this matter. 

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has long held that the decision to grant or 

deny a continuance is within the sound discretion of the circuit court: "'It is well settled as a general 

rule that the question of continuance is in the sound discretion of the circuit court, which will not be 

reviewed by the appellate court, except in case it clearly appears that such discretion has been 

abused.' " Shroades v. Food Lion. Inc., 530 S.E.2d 456 (yV. Va. 1999) (quoting Levy v. Scottish 

Union and National Ins. Co., 52 S.E. 449, syl. pt. 1 (W. Va. 1905)). Accordingly, "[a] motion for 

continuance is addressed to the sound discretion of the circuit court, and its ruling will not be 

disturbed on appeal unless there is a showing that there has been an abuse of discretion." State v. 

Bush, 255 S.E.2d 539, syl. pt. 2 (W. Va 1979). This Court has further explained that "whether there 

has been an abuse of discretion in denying a continuance must be decided on a case-by-case basis in 

light of the factual circwnstances presented, particularly the reasons for the continuance that were 

presented to the circuit court at the time the request was denied." Id. at syl. pt. 3. Finally, in 

McDougal v. McCanunon, The Supreme Court ofAppeals ofWest Virginia held: 

The West Virginia Rules of Evidence and the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 
allocate significant discretion to the trial court in making evidentiary and procedural rulings . 
. . Absent a few exceptions, this Court will review evidentiary and procedural rulings of the 
circuit court under an abuse ofdiscretion standard. 

455 S.E.2d 788, syl. pt. 1 CW. Va. 1995). 

Syllabus Point 3 ofWilliams v. Precision Coil, Inc., states: 

If the moving party makes a properly supported motion for swnmary judgment and 
can show by affirmative evidence that there is no genuine issue of a material fact, 
the burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party who must either (1) 
rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce additional 
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evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) submit an affidavit 
explaining why further discovery is necessary as provided in Rule 56(f) of the West 
Virginia Rules ofCivil Procedure. 

Williams v. Precision Coil. Inc., 459 S.E.2d 329 (W.Va. 1995). Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia 

Rules ofCivil Procedure states: 

When affidavits are unavailable.--Should it appear from the affidavits of a party 
opposing the motion that the party cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts 
essential to justify the party's opposition, the court may refuse the application for 
judgment or may order a continuance to pennit affidavits to be obtained or 
depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is 
just. 

W.Va. R.Civ.P. 56(f). 

According to Syllabus Point 1 of the Powderidge decision which the Petitioner relied upon 

in his brief, "[a]n opponent of a summary judgment motion requesting a continuance for further 

discovery need not follow the exact letter of Rule 56(t) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil 

Procedure." Syl. Pt. 1, Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Properties, Ltd., 474 S.E.2d 

872, 196 W.Va. 692 (1996). At a minimum, however, a party "making an informal Rule 56(f) 

motion" must: 

(1) articulate some plausible basis for the party's belief that specified "discoverable" 
material facts likely exist which have not yet become accessible to the party; (2) 
demonstrate some realistic prospect that the material facts can be obtained within a 
reasonable additional time period; (3) demonstrate that the material facts will, if 
obtained, suffice to engender an issue both genuine and material; and (4) 
demonstrate good cause for failure to have conducted the discovery earlier. 

Id. The Court in Powderidge also stated the following as it pertains to granting summary judgement 

motions: 

As a general rule, summary judgment is appropriate only after adequate time for 
discovery. See Celotex [Corp. v. Catrett], 477 U.S. [317] at 322, 106 S.Ct. [2548] at 
2552, 91 L.Ed.2d [265] at 276 [ (1986) ]. A party opposing a motion for summary 
judgment must have a reasonable "opportunity to discover information that is 
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essential to [its] opposition" to the motion. See Anderson [v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.], 
477 U.S. [242] at 250 n. 5, 106 S.Ct. [2505] at 2511 n. 5,91 L.Ed.2d [202] at 213 n. 
5 [ (1986) ]. 

Id. at 701. 

In this case, the Petitioner did not file a formal affidavit in response to Respondents' Motion 

for Summary Judgment, in compliance with Rule 56(f), requesting additional time for discovery. 

(Appendix at pgs. 218-229). Rather, the Petitioner included, in his response to the Respondents' 

Motion for Summary Judgment, set forth his basis under Rule 56( f) as to why additional discovery 

is needed. Id. In doing so, Petitioner cites heavily to his inability to depose Respondent Jones prior 

to the filing of and ruling on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. Id. However, what 

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate is "good cause" as to why this discovery has not taken place. 

In his brief, Petitioner admits that the failure to depose Respondent Jones amounted to 

"scheduling conflicts rather than any intentional refusal to make the witness available." See 

Petitioner's Brief, pg. 16. This admission was also made in Petitioner's response to Respondents' 

Motion for Summary Judgment. (Appendix at pg. 227). Furthermore, during oral argument on the 

Motion to Continue trial, Petitioner's counsel discussed the scheduling issues when discussing same 

with the Court. (Appendix at pgs. 238-240). Again, counsel for the Petitioner advised the Court 

that there was scheduling difficulties regarding the taking of Respondent Jones' deposition, but in 

doing so only referenced an attempt to depose the same in June 2016 after the close of discovery. 

Id. Counsel for the Petitioner also conceded that he never sought the Court's assistance in getting 

this deposition set, nor did he take any action to get the same set outside of asking counsel for the 

same. Id. It was upon this basis, correctly, that the lower Court did not grant the Motion to 

Continue. Importantly, counsel for the Respondents agreed to allow Petitioner's counsel to depose 
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Officer Jones and other witnesses after this hearing and before trial, because of representations 

Respondents counsel made to Petitioner's counsel to allow the depositions to take place. 

Petitioner also, in asserting that the Court was incorrect in denying the Motion to Continue, 

relies upon Elliot v. Schoolcraft, 213 W.Va. 69 (2002). As this Court is aware, Elliot involves the 

appeal of a lower court's granting of summary judgment before the Plaintiff was alleged to have 

sufficient time to conduct discovery to oppose the same. Id. However, the facts of Ellio!, differ 

greatly than the facts presented here. 

In Elliot the record indicated that the parties had only exchanged written discovery requests 

before motions for summary judgment were filed. Once initial discovery requests was completed, 

the Defendants in the underlying case began filing Motions for Summary Judgment. These Motions 

were filed prior to party depositions taking place because counsel for the parties refused to make 

their clients available for depositions. Furthermore, the same were filed after only four (4) months 

of time had passed since the inception of the suit. It was upon these reasons, the refusal to make 

clients available for depositions and the passage of only four months, that this Court determine that 

the appellant was not given sufficient time for discovery. 

In this matter, as the Petitioner has admitted on several occasions, the reason Respondent 

Jones was not deposed amounted to "scheduling" issues, not a failure of the Respondents to produce 

him for his deposition. (petitioner's Brief, at pg. 16, Appendix at pgs. 227, 238-240). Furthermore, 

Petitioner had approximately one year, three months, and five days from the filing of his Complaint 

to the close of formal discovery to conduct the same in this case. During this time, written discovery 

was conducted, experts were identified and disclosed, and several key fact witness depositions 

occurred. (Appendix at pgs. 1-4, generally). This is not a case where Petitioner did not have ample 
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time to conduct discovery, but rather a case where both sides failed to complete discovery within a 

more than ample timeframe. Although Petitioner states that he was "denied the right" to conduct 

discovery in this matter, the record shows otherwise and the lower Court's denial of the Motion to 

Continue was proper. Importantly, counsel for the Respondents agreed to allow Petitioner's counsel 

to depose Officer Jones and other witnesses after the hearing and before trial. 

At the conclusion ofhis argument, Petitioner suggests that the lower Court erred in denying 

the Motion to Continue based on the denial of his ability to depose Respondent Jones and because 

of what he alleges to be dishonest conduct on the part of the Respondents. See Petitioner's Brief, 

pgs. 16-18. First and foremost, the Petitioner was never denied the opportunity to depose 

Respondent Jones. Rather, the Petitioner failed to conduct his deposition and, when scheduling 

conflicts continually arose, failed to utilize the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure regarding 

discovery to his benefit in assuring that the same was conducted prior to the close ofdiscovery. 

As to the identity of a witness to the accident allegedly knowingly and intentionally 

concealed from the Petitioner, the record does not support such a finding. The Respondents 

concede that, at the time discovery responses were filed, they presented all the known information 

to date with respect to who was at the scene of the accident. It was only later, after the depositions 

of witnesses in this case,_ that the fact an unidentified woman was at the scene after the accident 

came to light. Upon learning of this information, counsel for the Respondents took it upon 

themselves to learn of the woman's identity and disclosed the same. (Appendix at pgs. 273-276, 

414-417). However, Petitioner has failed, in the record below, as well as in his Brief, to 

demonstrate how her identity could provide any discoverable evidence suffice to engender an issue 

both genuine and material. Simply put, the Petitioner has failed to demonstrate sufficient grounds 
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under Powderidge that a continuance was necessary and has failed to demonstrate that the lower 

Court abused its discretion in denying the Motion to Continue. 

C. 	 THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS APPLICATION OF SPECIAL 
RELATIONSHIP EXCEPTION TO THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE. 

a. 	 The Circuit Court did not rule was to whether the Public Duty Doctrine 
applied in this case and, as such, the issue is not ripe for appeal. 

The Supreme Court of Appeals is limited in its authority to resolve assignments of non

jurisdictional errors to a consideration of those matters passed upon by the court below and fairly 

arising upon the portions of the record designated for appellate review." Syl. Pt. 6, in part, Parker v. 

Knowlton Const. Co., Inc., 158 W. Va. 314, 210 S.E.2d 918 (1975); See also Syl. Pt. 3, in part, 

Dean v. Deptt of Motor Vehicles, 195 W. Va. 70,464 S.E.2d 589 (1995) (per curiam) ("This Court 

will not consider questions, non-jurisdictional in their nature, which have not been acted upon by 

the trial court."(internal quotations and citation omitted». The Final Order in this matter made no 

findings of fact or conclusion of law regarding whether the Special Relationship Exception to the 

Public Duty Doctrine applied in this case. (Appendix Record at pg. 450-464).7 Although there is 

no dispute that this issue was raised at some point in the record below, there is no mention by 

counsel for the Petitioner in arguing in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment that the 

.same was tnggere dB . 

In Stephens v. West Virginia College of Graduate Studies, 203 W. Va. 81,506 S.E.2d 336 

(1998), this Court addressed a similar situation where it found "no indication in the record before 

[it] that the issue was presented to and considered by the circuit court during the underlying 

summary judgment proceedings." Stephens, 506 S.E.2d at 343. Here, Petitioner discussed the 

7 See Footnote 4. 

8 Counsel for the Respondents did make reference to the same during oral argument only and suggested that counsel 

for the Petitioner only "alluded" to the application of the same. (Appendix at pgs. 259-264). 
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application of the Special Relationship Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine in its Response to the 

Motion for Summary Judgment and arguably alluded to the same during oral argwnent, but the 

Court never addressed the argwnent in its Final Order and, as the Stephens Court noted, 

"[g]enerally, [the Supreme Court of Appeals has] held that a circuit court speaks through its orders." 

Id. The Stephens Court ultimately concluded that because there was no indication that the circuit 

court had opportunity to rule on the issue, it was not ripe for decision by the Supreme Court of 

Appeals. 

The instant matter is analogous to Stephens because the record clearly demonstrates that the 

lower Court rules that summary judgment was proper on grounds that did not involve or invoke the 

Special Relationship Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine. Specially, the lower Court relied on 

the Peak decision, discussed at length below, for ruling that the Respondents were immune from 

liability in this case.9 Therefore, as in Stephens, the issue of the application of the Special 

Relationship Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine in this matter is not ripe for decision by this 

Court. As such, Petitioner's second assignment of error seeks a determination by this Court on an 

issue that was never decided by the Circuit Court and is not ripe for appeal. Even if the Court 

considers the issue ripe for appeal, the record clearly establishes that the Special Relationship 

Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine does not apply in this case as set forth below.

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